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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CASENO. 3.127 S 233 Vveac—-cyT

" 18 US.C. § 111(a)(1)
CLEATE WILSON ‘ 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1)
INDICTMENT
The Grand Jury charges:
COUNT ONE

On or about May 5, 2022, in the Middle District of Florida, the defendant,
CLEATE WILSON,
knowingly and forcibly resisted, opposed, impeded, and interfered with Deputy
United States Marshal (DUSM) J.L. and DUSM J.C., while engaged in and on
account of the performance of their official duties.
In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 111(a)(1).
COUNT TWO
On or about May 5, 2022, m the Middle District of Florida, the defendant,
CLEATE WILSON,
knowing that he had previously been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, including:
1. Possession of cocaine, on or about February 3, 2003;

2. Driving while license revoked (habitual offender), on or about June 28,
2004,



Case 8:22-cr-00217-VMC-CPT Document 1-1 Filed 06/22/22 Page 2 of 4 PagelD 6

3. Driving while license revoked (habitual offender), on or about August

23, 2004;

4. Possession with intent to distribute cocaine base, on or about October
29, 2008; and

5. Felon-in-possession of a firearm and ammunition, on or about October
19, 2015,

did knowingly possess, in and affecting interstate and foreign commerce, a firearm
and ammunition, that is, an H&K 9mm firearm and 14 rounds of 9mm ammunition.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(1) and 924(a)(2).

FORFEITURE

1. The allegations contained in Count Two are incorporated by reference
for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)
and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).

2. Upon conviction of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g), the defendant,

CLEATE WILSON,
shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d) and 28 U.S.C. §
2461(c), all firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the violation.

3. The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the
following: an H&K 9mm firearm and 9mm ammunition, seized on or about May 5,
2022.

4. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission
of the defendant:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
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FORM OBD-34
June 22
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Middle District of Florida
Tampa Division

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Vs.

CLEATE WILSON

INDICTMENT

Violations: 18 U.S.C. § 111(a)(1) and 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).

A true bill,
C

—

Foreperson

Filed in open court this 22" day

of June, 2022.

Clerk

Bail §

GPO 863 525



